
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

RUSHMOOR BOROUGH COUNCIL 
 
 

 

OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY 
COMMITTEE 

at the Council Offices, Farnborough on 
Thursday, 5th February, 2026 at 7.00 pm 

 

 
 
To: 
 

Cllr Halleh Koohestani (Chair) 
Cllr Thomas Day (Vice-Chair) 
Cllr M.J. Tennant (Vice-Chair) 

 
Cllr Leola Card 

Cllr C.P. Grattan 
Cllr Steve Harden 

Cllr G.B. Lyon 
Cllr Nadia Martin 

Cllr Bill O'Donovan 
Cllr M.J. Roberts 
Cllr S. Trussler 

 
 

Standing Deputy 
 
Cllr A. Adeola Cllr Mara Makunura Cllr T.W. Mitchell 
Cllr C.W. Card  Cllr Dhan Sarki 
Cllr Lisa Greenway  Cllr Becky Williams  
 
 

 

Enquiries regarding this agenda should be referred to the Administrator, Adele 
Taylor, Democratic Services, Tel. (01252) 398831, Email. 

adele.taylor@rushmoor.gov.uk. 
 

Public Document Pack



A G E N D A 
 

1. MINUTES OF THE PREVIOUS MEETING – (Pages 1 - 6) 
 
To confirm the Minutes of the Meeting held on 11th December, 2025 (copy 
attached). 
 

2. EXCLUSION OF THE PUBLIC –  
 
To consider resolving: 
 
That, subject to the public interest test, the public be excluded from this meeting 
during the discussion of the undermentioned items to avoid the disclosure of exempt 
information within the paragraph of Schedule 12A to the Local Government Act, 
1972 indicated against such item: 
 
Item Schedule Category 
Nos. 12A Para. 
 No. 
 
3&4 3 Information relating to financial or business affairs 
 

3. FARNBOROUGH LEISURE CENTRE - LEISURE OPERATOR PROCUREMENT 
(ALLOW 45 MINS) – (Pages 7 - 16) 
 
To carry out pre-decision scrutiny on the procurement and approval of an operator 
for the Aldershot Pools and Lido, Alpine Snowsports Centre and the proposed new 
Farnborough Leisure Centre, prior to consideration by the Cabinet at its meeting on 
10th February, 2026 – Cabinet Report No. OS2603 (copy attached). Exempt 
appendices, referenced in the Report, will be available to Members of the Committee 
on Monday 2nd February by following this link. 
 
David Phillips, Deputy Head of Operations, will give a short presentation.  
 
The Portfolio Holder for Healthy Communities and Active Lives, Cllr Sophie Porter, 
will also be in attendance. 
 

4. UNION YARD, ALDERSHOT - DISPOSAL OF BLOCKS C & D (ALLOW 1HR 15 
MINS) –  
 
To consider the decision made by the Cabinet at its meeting on 15th December, 
2025, to dispose of Blocks C&D at Union Yard, Aldershot to Vivid Housing. 
 
Since the December meeting of the Cabinet, some key project dependencies have 
changed, and it has been confirmed that the purchase will now take place in mid-
February. Therefore, it was agreed that the Committee have the opportunity to re-
consider the matter, and revisit alternative options considered as part of the original 
decision to dispose to Prime in 2025.  
 
The following exempt documents are available for reference: 
 
Cabinet 8 April 2025 - Exempt Report No. REG2502 

https://democracy.rushmoor.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=138&MId=1601&Ver=4
https://democratic.rushmoor.gov.uk/documents/s15081/Exempt%20Cabinet%20Report%20and%20appendices%20-%20Union%20Yard%20-%20disposal%20of%20residential%20apartments.pdf?$LO$=1


Cabinet 15 December 2025- Exempt Report No. REG2542 
 
A covering Report will be available on Monday 2nd February, 2026. 
 
Any recommendations arising from the Committee, would then be considered by the 
Cabinet at its meeting on 10th February, 2026. 
 
 

MEETING REPRESENTATION 
 
Members of the public may ask to speak at the meeting on any of the items on the 
agenda by writing to the Committee Administrator at the Council Offices, 
Farnborough by 5.00 pm two working days prior to the meeting. 
 
Applications for items to be considered for the next meeting must be received in 
writing to the Committee Administrator fifteen working days prior to the meeting. 

 
 

----------- 
 
 

https://democratic.rushmoor.gov.uk/documents/s15778/Union%20Yard%20-%20approach%20to%20disposal%20of%20residential%20appartments%20-%20Exempt%20Report%20No.%20REG2542.pdf?$LO$=1


This page is intentionally left blank



- 25 - 
 

OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY 
COMMITTEE 

 
Meeting held on Thursday, 11th December, 2025 at the Council Offices, 
Farnborough at 7.00 pm. 
 
Voting Members 

Cllr Halleh Koohestani (Chair) 
Cllr Thomas Day (Vice-Chair) 
Cllr M.J. Tennant (Vice-Chair) 

 
Cllr Leola Card 

Cllr C.P. Grattan 
Cllr Steve Harden 

Cllr G.B. Lyon 
Cllr Bill O'Donovan 
Cllr M.J. Roberts 
Cllr S. Trussler 

 
Cllr Nadia Martin joined the meeting online and was therefore unable to vote on any 
of the items. 
 

21. MINUTES OF THE PREVIOUS MEETING 
 
The minutes of the meetings held on 23rd October, 2025 were agreed as a correct 
record. 
 

22. REGISTERED PROVIDERS TASK AND FINISH GROUP 
 
The Committee welcomed Zoe Paine, Strategy and Enabling Officer who was in 
attendance to advise the Committee of the work undertaken to review the Terms of 
Reference and working arrangements of the Registered Providers Task and Finish 
Group since the meeting in June 2025. 
 
The Committee were being asked to agree a name change for the Group to the 
Housing Oversight Group and agree new Terms of Reference.  
 
The Committee discussed the Terms of Reference and agreed both changes, 
subject to the following additions/changes to the Terms of Reference: 
 

 An increase in the regularity of meetings, three a year wasn’t considered 
enough 

 

 Inclusion of a process for the Portfolio Holder to report back to the Committee 
 

 A greater number of Members on the Group, which currently had five 
Members, seven was suggested and political balance would need to be 
considered  

Page 1

AGENDA ITEM No. 1



- 26 - 
 

 

 Confirmation that Private Rented Housing would be included in the Group’s 
remit 

 

 Inclusion of a mechanism in the Terms of Reference to ensure that the 
widening of the Group did not affect the ability to hold Registered Providers to 
account - this was considered a priority. 
 

Mrs Paine, agreed to rework the Terms of Reference to incorporate the 
changes/additions. The revised Terms of Reference would then be shared via email 
with Members for agreement. 
 
The Chair thanked Mrs Paine for her time.  
 

23. SERCO ANNUAL REPORT 2024/25 
 
The Committee welcomed Ruth Whaymand, Environmental Contracts Manager and 
Aaron Straker, Serco Contracts Manager, who were both in attendance to report on 
the Serco Annual Report 2024/25.  
 
The Committee received a presentation from Ms Whaymand which provided an 
overview of the Serco contract, including a background to the procurement, how the 
contract was audited, service changes, new legislation timetables and the 
introduction of ‘Simpler Recycling’. Mr Straker then gave a presentation which 
covered details on the workforce, the services delivered in Rushmoor (Collections, 
Street Cleansing and Grounds Maintenance), contract management and compliance, 
whitespace, Supatrak and onboard CCTV, health and safety and wellbeing, 
recycling, innovation, added value and the future.  
 
The Committee discussed the presentations and raised the following issues: 
 

 Street Cleansing changes in some areas were considered to not be 
successful, in particular in the North Camp area, and as a gateway into the 
Borough for the forthcoming 2026 Airshow and Armed Forces Day, a request 
was made for attention to be given to all gateways into the Borough to ensure 
all were well maintained and clear of rubbish for these important events. 
 

 Food waste KPIs and what targets were considered realistic? - Mr Straker 
advised that work was underway to set realistic targets for food waste 
collections and advised he hoped these would be fairer in the future. 
 

 Simpler Recycling – how would residents understand what could and could 
not be recycled? – it was noted that the new recycling rules aimed to make it 
easier for residents, as all counties would be aligned with the same recycling 
requirements. It was reported that metals, plastics and glass would be co-
collected, and paper and card would be collected separately to avoid co-
contamination. Consideration was being given, by the Working Group, to the 
receptacle to collect paper and card, and a wheeled bin was thought to be 
most appropriate to avoid any cross contamination or manual handing issues. 

Page 2



- 27 - 
 

Members requested that the Group thought about space for wheeled bins, 
from a residents’ point of view, when deliberating the matter.  
 
The Portfolio Holder advised that the cost of any new bins and vehicle 
infrastructure, due to changes as a result of Simpler Recycling, were currently 
being discussed with Hampshire County Council, as the disposal authority. 
Should the County Council order local authorities to make changes, they 
would be responsible for the additional cost, but at present the cost would be 
the responsibility of the local authorities. 
 
In response to a query regarding the income from PackUK, the Governments 
chosen administrator for the UK’s Extended Producer Responsibility for 
packaging programme, in relation to Simpler Recycling, it was estimated that 
the Council were expected to receive around £1m for 2025/26, however only 
£615k was guaranteed as it was dependent on the funds being collected from 
manufacturers by PackUK. The funds would be ringfenced for waste and 
recycling services.  
 

 Apprenticeships – in response to a question regarding apprenticeships 
leading to permanent positions, it was advised that this was not always 
possible but there was a potential to transfer to other sites in the area. 
 

 Bin Contamination – It was noted that the Serco Communications Team 
worked with the Council to help educate residents in relation to contamination 
of waste and recycling bins. It was understood that the Team thoroughly 
investigated bins, that were not collected due to contamination, to inform 
residents what the issue was so it could be avoided going forward. Tools were 
available to help with education, including posters, stickers, reusable bags 
and mailshots. Issues relating to food waste contamination could be from the 
use of thick or black plastic sacks instead of small thin bags. It was hoped that 
the new Simpler Recycling would help reduce contamination rates, as 
residents were already putting some of the new items into their recycling bin, 
which was contributing to contamination, for example, currently approximately 
6% of contamination was plastic pots, tubs and trays which would be 
excepted for recycling under the new legislation. 

 

 Tracking data – a request was made for vehicle tracking data to be made 
more publicly available to residents.  It was noted that the system could not be 
accessed until after 15:00hrs and the info was shared with the Council’s 
Customer Services Unit, and the Contracts Team, so was available when 
residents called to report missed bins. 
 

 Electric vehicle maintenance costs – it was advised that the two vehicles in 
use currently were only on trial and any decisions to use electric vehicles 
permanently, going forward, would be for the Working Group to discuss and 
would ultimately be dependent on the details of the contract extension.  
 

 Business waste – in response to a query relating to waste from businesses 
being blown on people’s driveways/gardens, it was noted that it would be 

Page 3



- 28 - 
 

unrealistic to ask the street cleansing teams to litter pick on private property 
and many residents would not welcome it. 
 

 Bulky waste – it was commented on that the cost of bulky waste collections 
was not reasonable. The Portfolio Holder advised that consideration was 
being given to the cost depending on the number of items being collected. 
 

 Electrical waste – it was noted that the limiting factor for electrical waste was 
size. The pink bins had a limited size opening for items, and the kerbside 
vehicles only had a small cage to collect items in. It was advised that if the 
item fit in a standard supermarket bag the item should be accepted. With 
regard to laptops, mobile phones, tablets, etc. these were disposed on at the 
owners’ risk and the owner should be aware of potential data protection risks.  
 

 Clinical waste – It was noted that clinical waste collections could only be 
arranged if referred by a medical professional who would provide details on 
how to dispose of the clinical waste to the disposal authority. In cases where a 
medical professional referral was not possible, items should be able to be 
returned to the individuals GP.  
 

Other issues raised included, broken wheelie bins, legionella flushing, commercial 
waste, proposed road tax increases, the Human Rights Bill and co-funded pay 
increases. 
 
The Committee discussed the management of shrub beds since changes, driven by 
the climate emergency and cost savings were introduced in 2022. It was noted that 
the weeds had gone from being controlled with chemicals to stopping any kind of 
control. As a result, the brambles had now taken hold and were well established in 
the shrub beds. During discussions, it was suggested that a one-off intensive 
programme could be put in place to clear the weeds and brambles. However, this 
was considered to be a costly, significantly difficult and challenging manual task. The 
Committee also discussed pockets of grassland that had been left unmown to 
encourage biodiversity and data had been requested on the overall size of such 
areas. 
 
The Portfolio Holder confirmed that the existing Cabinet Working Group was 
proposing to review the weed treatment of the Borough’s shrub beds, that had been 
reduced in 2022. 
 
The Committee voted unanimously to support this review and RECOMMENDED that 
the reinstatement of a greater focus on weed treatment in beds should be prioritised 
in the Council’s contract negotiations with Serco. 
 
ACTION: 

Detail By Whom  When  

Provide data on the size of land left unmown 
(conservation grass) to encourage 
biodiversity. 

Andy Ford, 
Parks Manager  

January, 
2026 

 

Page 4



- 29 - 
 

The Chair thanked, Mr Straker, Mrs Whaymand and Cllr Guinness for their 
contribution to the discussions. 
 

24. WALK THIS WASTE PILOT 
 
Environmental Contracts Manager, Ruth Whaymand gave a presentation on the 
Walk this Waste Pilot which aimed to reduce fly-tipping in the Borough. Fly-tipping 
had a significant impact, especially in deprived areas, and encouraged crime and 
anti-social behaviour.  
 
The Pilot, to provide a free bulky waste collection, was aimed at reducing fly-tipping 
in the most deprived areas and targeted residents with no access to transport or 
funds to dispose of their own bulky waste. A mobile collection vehicle undertook nine 
events, each with multiple stopping points, and was limited to collecting three items 
per household. It was reported that, 178 residents used the service and 333 items 
were collected, totalling 8.34 tonnes of waste. It was noted that the Pilot did not have 
the desired effect of reducing incidents of fly-tipping and overall, a slight increase 
was recorded. The Pilot had cost approximately £5,700.  
 
The Portfolio Holder advised that the Pilot had been well received by residents, and 
the choice to use a mobile vehicle had been more positive than the original choice to 
use a static skip. However, despite the service not reducing incidents of fly-tipping 
during the pilot, it was felt that should the service be extended to include one event 
in each ward per year at a cost of £7,970 (7p per resident a year), an impact could 
be achieved. The Pilot had also had a positive impact on the communities where it 
had been carried out. 
 
Cllr Harden expressed his thoughts on the Pilot, and it was noted that he felt the 
funds could be used in a different way by targeting vulnerable or elderly people or 
those with more items and no ability to dispose of them themselves. He was 
supportive of the community aspect of the Pilot but felt that the funds shouldn’t be 
spent on a scheme that had been proven not to work. 
 
During discussion, the Committee acknowledged that the Pilot period had been 
short, and impacts may be seen if the Pilot were allowed to carry on for a longer 
period. Alternative options were also raised including, using funds from the Bulky 
Waste scheme to support initiatives around potential reduced rates or ward specific 
schemes as agreed with ward councillors. It was noted that it was important to reach 
those that needed the service the most and alternatives needed to be considered.  
 
In summary, the Committee’s key observations and recommendations to the Cabinet 
were: 
 

 There was no evidence that the Pilot had achieved its primary purpose of 
reducing fly-tipping, although it was acknowledged that this may have 
followed should the scheme have run over a longer period 

  
 The Pilot clearly helped engage communities in achieving ‘Pride in Place’ 

  

Page 5



- 30 - 
 

 Concerns were expressed that the scheme excluded residents who were 
unable to carry large items to the vehicles 

  
 The Committee requested Cabinet consider the following as alternatives to 

the Walk This Waste scheme: 
 

o A review of residents’ accessibility to the bulky waste service, 
employing pricing incentives to encourage participation, 

o bespoke ward specific measures to be agreed in consultation with 
Ward Councillors, and  

o that both the above options should focus on the wards that experience 
the highest incidences of fly-tipping. 

 
The Chair thanked Mrs Whaymand and Cllr Guinness for their presentation. 
 

25. WORK PLAN 
 
The Committee noted the current Work Plan and were advised that the next meeting 
on 5th February, 2026, would be used to carry out pre decision scrutiny on the 
Farnborough Leisure Centre. 
 
The meeting closed at 11.00 pm. 
 
 
  

CLLR HALLEH KOOHESTANI (CHAIR) 
 
 
 
 
 

------------ 

Page 6



 

CABINET 
 

COUNCILLOR SOPHIE PORTER 
HEALTHY COMMUNITIES & ACTIVE LIVES 

PORTFOLIO HOLDER 
10 FEBRUARY 2026 
 
Key Decision? Yes 
 

 
 

Report No. OS2603 

 
LEISURE OPERATOR CONTRACT AWARD 

 
 
SUMMARY AND RECOMMENDATIONS: 
 
This report sets out the outcome of the Leisure Operator Procurement and seeks 
approvals to award the operator contract to run existing and proposed new leisure 
facilities within the borough. 

 
Cabinet is recommended to: 
 
1) Note the successful completion of the procurement process to secure a leisure 

operator for the Council’s existing leisure facilities and the proposed new centre 
in Farnborough; 
 

2) Note the implications of the risks highlighted in sections 3.1 to 3.4; 
 

3) Agree to award the leisure operating contract to the highest scoring bidder as 
outlined in Exempt Appendix 1, subject to the completion of the standstill 
period. The contract is on the basis of an agency agreement and covers a 15-
year term, (with an option to extend by 5 years), plus an additional interim 
phase whilst the new centre is under development; 

 
4) Approve the adjustment to budgets from 2026/27 to reflect the proposed 

contract requirements as detailed in Exempt Appendix 2; 
 

5) Approve a feasibility study revenue budget for the Alpine Snowsports Centre of 
£30,000 to be funded from the remaining balance of the 2025/26 ski centre 
revenue budget as referenced in section 3.6; and, 
 

6) Delegate authority to the Executive Head of Operations in consultation with the 
Corporate Manager – Legal Services to finalise and enter into the leisure 
operating contract with the successful bidder. 

 
 
 
1. BACKGROUND 
 
1.1. In February 2025, Cabinet approved a revised approach for the delivery of a 

Leisure Centre in Farnborough town centre along with the procurement approach 
to appoint an operator to run the existing Aldershot Pools & Lido facilities within 
the borough and the proposed new centre (Report REG2501). 

Page 7

AGENDA ITEM No. 3



 

 
1.2. The Ministry of Housing, Communities & Local Government (MHCLG) gave full 

approval in April 2025 for the Council to deliver the revised scheme utilising the 
remaining £18.5m Levelling Up grant. At that time the Cabinet noted that the 
scheme would also require some borrowing that would be funded by operator 
income payments. 

 
1.3. The proposed facility includes two swimming pools, (a 25m 6-lane main pool and 

a 10m x 8m learner pool), 100+ station fitness suite including provision of 
specialist equipment for people who are less mobile or active, studio space 
including a dedicated spin studio, a café and active play for children. A new 
surface car park and play park will also be delivered as part of the scheme. 

 
1.4. The new Farnborough Leisure Centre will play a significant role in reducing 

health inequalities - both physical and mental - and increasing levels of physical 
activity. These are key priorities identified in the Council Delivery Plan 2026-27. 
The Council is therefore keen to appoint an operating partner who shares this 
vision and is committed to operating the facility to optimise participative 
opportunities and benefits for the local community. 

 
 

2. OPERATOR PROCUREMENT PROCESS 
 
2.1. The Procurement Act 2023 commenced on 24 February 2025 and had significant 

implications for public sector procurement. This revised public procurement 
system introduced the new 'Competitive Flexible Procedure' which enables 
contracting authorities to design project specific procurement processes to align 
with project objectives and market norms. The Council’s leisure operator 
procurement process made use of this competitive flexible procedure. 

 
2.2. On 11 February 2025, Cabinet agreed the overall operator procurement and 

appointment approach, and commencement of the process. Decisions to amend 
the procurement documentation as required throughout the process was 
delegated to the Executive Head of Operations in consultation with the Portfolio 
Holder for Healthy Communities & Active Lives, and financial implications in 
consultation with the Executive Head of Finance (S151). 

 
2.3. The operating contract will be split into two phases. The Interim Phase will 

commence on 1 April 2026, at which point the operator will be required to 
commence delivery of services at the existing Aldershot facilities including the 
Alpine Snowsports Centre and the Aldershot Indoor Pools and Lido. The Main 
Phase of the contract will then commence at the point the new Farnborough 
facility is opened. An optional extension period of 5 years is available at the end 
of the 15-year main phase of the contract. 
 

2.4. The operator procurement process started in March 2025 with Preliminary 
Market Engagement. Following an advert inviting interest from the leisure 
market, a one-hour MS Teams briefing, with subsequent individual one-to-one 
meetings took place, providing a chance for operators to ask questions and 
provide informal feedback on a number of issues. Operator feedback on the 

Page 8



 

proposed facilities mix was generally positive, and a number of suggestions were 
subsequently adopted in updated designs. Views on other issues, including car 
parking, contract term, profiling and the agency model also proved useful and 
were used to inform the next stage of the process. The importance of a significant 
operator fee payable to the Council as an outcome of the procurement was made 
clear at the outset. 
 

 
Procurement Timetable 

 
2.5. A summary of the operator procurement timetable is set out below: 
 

ACTIVITY DATE 
Issue Tender Notice & Key Procurement Documents 24 June 2025 

Bidders Day - Briefing to all and Aldershot site visit 7/8 July 2025 

1 to 1 Clarification meetings (Teams) 21 - 25 July 2025 

Clarification deadline 8 August 2025 

1st Stage Tender Return Deadline 28 August 2025 

Evaluation 1 - 19 Sep 2025 

Moderation Meetings 22 - 26 Sept 2025 

Down selection 29 Sept 2025 

Negotiation meetings 6 - 17 Oct 2025 

Agree best & final offers parameters 20 Oct – 7 Nov 2025 

Invitation to submit 2nd stage best & final tenders 24 Nov 2025 

2nd Stage Best & Final Tender Return Deadline 19 Dec 2025, 12pm 

Evaluation 19 Dec 25 – 12 Jan 26 

Moderation meetings 12 - 13 Jan 2026 

Cabinet Meeting - Approval 10 Feb 2026 

Notification of award decision & issue of assessment 
summaries 

11 Feb 2026 

Contract Award Notice issued on FTS 11 Feb 2026 

Statutory 8 working day standstill period 12 - 23 Feb 2026 

Contract award 24 Feb 2026 

Commencement of contract interim phase 1 April 2026 

Commencement of contract main phase Late 2027 / Early 2028 

 
 
Stage One – Invitation to Tender 
 
2.6. The procurement process was formally started with the issuing of an ‘Invitation 

to Tender’ (ITT)’ via the Proactis procurement portal on 24 June 2025. 
 

2.7. Operators were invited to bid for the contract on two separate lots. Lot 1 was 
based on a standard leisure operating model, with the operator acting as 
‘principal’ and the Council as client. Lot 2 was based on an ‘agency model’, with 
the operator acting as an agent on behalf of the Council (principal). Bidders were 
invited to submit proposals for either, or both, lots. The tender evaluation had a 

Page 9



 

60% quality and 40% price weighting, demonstrating that whilst the financial 
performance of the contract is a high priority for the Council, the delivery of a 
high-quality service is of key importance. 

 
2.8. The Lot 2 ‘agency model’ of delivery offers the council a net beneficial financial 

position through more efficient VAT treatment with no change to service for 
customers. Leisure centres operated by local authorities are classified by HMRC 
as a non-business activity. The Agency model means the operator acts on behalf 
of the Council, therefore the gross income and expenditure is accounted for 
through the Council’s accounts. This allows the Council to reclaim VAT under 
Section 33 of the VAT Act 1994 where operators in a principal arrangement are 
not permitted and would charge the council an amount for ‘irrecoverable VAT’.  

 
2.9. There are other key structural changes of an Agency model to the delivery of 

services including; clarity in branding of the site as a Council leisure centre, clarity 
to the customer that the operator is acting on behalf of the Council with the 
Council maintaining responsibility for income and expenditure incurred being 
appropriately accounted for as Council costs and income. 
 

2.10. Following the issue of the Invitation to Tender (ITT), operators were invited to the 
Aldershot Pools & Lido for a general site visit (07/07/2025) followed by a technical 
visit (11/07/2025). A Bidders Briefing presentation was provided on MS Teams 
(08/07/2025) which provided further guidance and, in addition to the 
comprehensive Clarification Log, separate one-to-one 90-minute clarification 
meetings were held with operators (w/c 21/07/2025). 

 
2.11. In the weeks between issue of the ITT and the tender return deadline, a small 

number of interested operators withdrew from the process, largely due to the 
busy nature of the leisure procurement market and inability to resource multiple 
tender submissions concurrently. 

 
2.12. The first part of the tender submission invited suppliers to complete a 

Procurement Specific Questionnaire. Responses were assessed on a pass / fail 
basis and covered legal standing, financial standing, insurance, health & safety 
and relevant experience. This process ensured that only operators with sufficient 
experience and scale were taken forward. 

 
2.13. Following receipt of the full submissions on 28 August, a comprehensive 

evaluation and moderation process was undertaken of the quality and pricing 
elements of the detailed tenders by experienced, independent and specialist 
members of the Project Team, including Council Officers and Consultants. 

 
 

Stage 2 - Best & Final Offers 
 
2.14. Rather than instigate an award to a preferred bidder at this stage, the Council 

decided to enter a final period of negotiation and subsequently invite best and 
final offers from the highest scoring bidders. 
 

Page 10



 

2.15. In person, full day negotiation meetings were held at the Princes Hall theatre with 
a number of representatives from each of the operators. The agenda was split 
into three primary topic areas: legal, finance and operations. A one-hour Teams 
briefing attended by all prospective suppliers followed in order to summarise the 
key outcomes of the sessions. 

 
2.16. Following conclusion of the negotiation meetings, an Executive Summary 

document was issued to all operators clarifying a number of key points prior to 
the Stage 2 process, including: 

 
 Capital Funding - suppliers would be asked to bid on the basis that no 

Council capital funding will be available for any proposed developments 
at the Aldershot site or Farnborough FFE, assuming it would need to be 
fully financed by operators. 
 

 Aldershot Development Proposals – suppliers had suggested various 
proposals for development of the Aldershot Pools & Lido site during the 
Stage 1 process, which had been discussed in further detail during the 
negotiation meetings. The Stage 2 Best & Final Offer process required 
operators to include the impact of any qualifying capital improvements 
within their financial submission where the inclusion of such proposals 
represents a legally binding commitment for delivery. 
 

 Financial Parameters - a stated pass / fail cap value on the fee payable 
by the Council to the operator during the interim phase and years 1 & 2 of 
the main phase of the contract would be included. 

 
 Aldershot Ski Centre – confirmation that the Alpine Snowsports Centre 

would now be included in the operating contract, for the interim phase 
only, with the Council retaining the commercial risk and responsibility for 
the maintenance of the facility, (as per the interim phase arrangements for 
the Aldershot Pools & Lido). During this period, the Council will 
commission a Feasibility Study to establish the long-term viability of the 
ski centre. An additional revenue budget of £30,000 to undertake this 
feasibility study is sought. At the end of the interim phase, the operator 
and Council will seek to agree the terms on which the ski centre may be 
incorporated into the main phase contract. In the absence of such an 
agreement, the Council will have the option to terminate the ski centre 
arrangement. 

 
 Tennis Courts - administration of the Council’s tennis courts at Manor 

Park, Rectory Road and Cove Green using the ClubSpark system would 
be included in both phases of the contract. 

 
 FLC Design Changes - revised design changes at the new Farnborough 

Leisure centre, including the addition of a second studio, were confirmed. 
 
2.17. An invitation to submit 2nd Stage Best & Final Tenders was published on 24 

November. Following various operator site visits to both the Pools & Lido and the 

Page 11



 

Ski Centre facilities, as well as a subsequent clarification process, returns were 
received on Friday 19 December. 
 

2.18. A comprehensive evaluation and moderation process was once again 
undertaken by the same team of Council Officers and Consultants, from both a 
quality and financial perspective. 

 
 
Contract Award 

 
2.19. Exempt Appendix 1 provides an overview of the Best & Final Tender 

submissions, and confirms the identity of the preferred bidder, with a 
recommendation to approve the award of the leisure operating contract included 
in this paper. 
 

2.20. Following contract award, the Interim Phase of the Contract is due to commence 
on 1 April 2026, at which point the operator will commence delivery of services 
at the Aldershot Pools & Lido and Aldershot Ski Centre. 

 
2.21. The Council's target date for opening of the new Farnborough facility is currently 

Winter 2027 (subject to approval), at which point the contract will enter its Main 
Phase. The duration of the Interim Phase is dependent upon when the new 
facility is ready to be opened but is likely to be around two years. The Main Phase 
of the contract will run for an initial 15-year period, with an option to extend by a 
further 5 years. 

 
2.22. The existing contract with Places Leisure for the operation of the Aldershot Pools 

& Lido ends on 31 March 2027. The temporary arrangement for Places Leisure 
to operate the Aldershot Ski Centre ends in May 2026. A break-clause is included 
in both agreements if required. 

 
 

Alternative Options 
 

2.23. There is an option not to award a leisure operating contract until delivery of the 
new Farnborough Leisure Centre has been confirmed. However, clarity of 
operator is required as soon as possible in order to confirm arrangements for the 
mobilisation of the lido for season opening on 23 May 2026. 
 

2.24. In addition, with Stage 1 submissions originally received back in August last year, 
there has already been a significant gap between receipt and contract award. 
Following this lengthy period, operators are expecting the publication of an award 
this month. 

 
 

Consultation 
 

2.25. Potential operators were consulted on the proposed facilities mix of the new 
Farnborough Leisure Centre, and a number of design changes were made 
accordingly. 

Page 12



 

 
2.26. Both the Leader of the Council and the Portfolio Holder for Healthy Communities 

& Active Lives have been consulted throughout the procurement process. 
 

 
3. IMPLICATIONS   

 
Risks 

 
3.1. The key risk associated with the operator procurement is the dependency on 

delivery of the wider build project. A clause is included in the operating contract 
to confirm that, should the Farnborough Leisure Centre project not progress, the 
appointed contractor will continue to operate the Aldershot Pools & Lido site until 
the long-stop date, (December 2029).  

 
3.2. The proposed agency model of delivery offers the Council a net beneficial 

financial position through more efficient VAT treatment. There is a risk that this 
agency model becomes unviable due either to a no-fault event such as an HMRC 
decision, or as a result of a defect in the agency position proposed by the 
contractor. External advice sought has considered the risk of HMRC changing 
their position low. The preferred operator has however confirmed a financial 
'fallback' position should this situation occur to ensure the Council has financial 
surety.  
 

3.3. Utilities & Facilities Management (FM) benchmarking schedules are included in 
the contract with the risk that, following the first 12 months of operation, the 
Council may incur an additional financial obligation to support the operator with 
increases to these costs beyond reasonable inflationary increases. 
 

3.4. Please see exempt Appendix 3 for details of an additional confidential risk. 
 
 

Legal Implications 
 

3.5. The procurement process that has been undertaken was legally compliant and 
sound. The resulting contract will continue to be subject to internal and external 
scrutiny to finalisation, as would be usual for a contract of this value. Save for the 
confidential risk per the appendices, all legal risks have been appropriately 
mitigated.  

 
 

Financial Implications 
 
3.6. Current leisure budgets for the 2025/26 financial year are as follows:  

 
 Base Budget 2025/26 

£ 
Approved Budget 2025/26 

£ 
Aldershot Pools & Lido 330,000 330,000 
Alpine Ski Centre (51,070) 48,930 
Total budget 278,930 378,930 

Page 13



 

 
The approved budget shows the £100,000 growth in leisure budgets following 
Alpine Ski Centre operational arrangement changes as approved by Cabinet 3 
June 2025. As of January 2026, the full £100,000 is not forecast to be required, 
in 2025/26, therefore recommendation is to fund the required feasibility study for 
the Alpine Snowsports centre from remaining balances.  
 

3.7. A comparison of the budget requirements of the proposed contract to current 
budgets are detailed fully in Appendix 2.  
 

3.8. The procurement process has been undertaken with a view to achieving value 
for money to the council, with tenders being assessed on a price / quality 
weighting of 40% / 60% and fee caps set to minimise unaffordable fee levels in 
early years. 
 

3.9. The Stage 2 Best & Final Offer process included a pass / fail cap on the maximum 
fee payment that operators may require from the Council: 

 
 Interim Phase: Cap on maximum Interim payment from RBC to operator 

of £288k pa (for Aldershot Pools & Lido, ski centre, plus administration of 
tennis courts). 
 

 Main Phase: Maximum cap on year one fee payable by the Council to the 
operator of £300k. Minimum fee payable by the operator to the Council of 
£120k for years 2 to 5. 

 
3.10. The Stage 2 process also required operators to include for the impact of 

qualifying capital improvements to the existing Aldershot Pools & Lido facility 
within their financial submission where the inclusion of such proposals 
represents a legally binding commitment for delivery. 
 

3.11. Financial due diligence of the proposed supplier has been undertaken to ensure 
financial security of the provider to ensure confidence in delivery for the Council. 
As with all major Council contracts, the supplier’s financial position will be 
regularly reviewed throughout the contract to ensure risks to the Council of 
contract failure are minimised.  

 
3.12. The Council has taken advice from both external legal support and its tax 

consultants regarding utilisation of the Agency model to ensure that it is 
compliant and will be transacted appropriately. 
 

3.13.  Affordability of the new Farnborough Leisure Centre scheme, which will be 
proposed under a separate report, is intrinsically linked to the outcome of the 
leisure operator procurement, as a significant operator fee is required to fund the 
build. 

 
 

Resource Implications 
 

Page 14



 

3.14. An additional internal resource is anticipated to be required to manage the new 
leisure operating contract on the proposed addition of the Farnborough Leisure 
Centre site to the contract. Implications of this resource will be included in the 
Farnborough Leisure Centre build report. 
 

3.15. There is likely to be a small resource implication for the Council’s Finance Team 
associated with the additional transactions required for the appropriate VAT 
accounting of the new agency contract. This is currently planned to be achieved 
within current resources, utilising current contracted tax consultant support 
where needed.  
 

 
Equalities Impact Implications 
 
3.16. The equality requirements of the new operating contract and specification are far 

more detailed and robust that those outlined in the previous leisure operating 
contract and specification dating back to 2002. 
 

3.17. An Equality Impact Assessment screening tool has been completed, (Appendix 
4), and the appointment of the operator will have a positive impact on a number 
of groups with protected characteristics, as well as disadvantaged groups. 
 
 

4. CONCLUSION 
 
4.1. The delivery of a new leisure centre for Farnborough is a priority for residents 

and the Council’s Cabinet. 
 

4.2. A robust procurement process has been undertaken to secure a leisure operator 
for both the new Farnborough Centre, and the existing facilities in Aldershot. 

 
4.3. The award of a 15-year contract to the preferred bidder will provide the Council 

with both a significant fee from the supplier across the term of the agreement, as 
well as the appointment of a national leisure operator with a reputation for, and 
commitment to, quality service. 
 
 

LIST OF CONFIDENTIAL APPENDICES 
 
Appendix 1 – Overview of the Best & Final Tender Submissions scoring 
Appendix 2 – Budget requirements of proposed contract 
Appendix 3 – Exempt Risk Submission 
Appendix 4 – Exempt Equalities Impact Assessment Screening Tool 
 

 
BACKGROUND DOCUMENTS: 
 

Cabinet Report REG2501 
Cabinet Report REG2503 
Cabinet Report OS2510 

Page 15



 

 
 
CONTACT DETAILS: 
 
Report Authors 
 
 
David Phillips – Deputy Head of Operations  
david.phillips@rushmoor.gov.uk   
  
Rosie Plaistowe-Melham – Financial Services Manager & Deputy 151 Officer 
rosie.plaistowe@rushmoor.gov.uk  
 
Head of Service 
 
James Duggin – Executive Head of Operations  
james.duggin@rushmoor.gov.uk  
 

Page 16


	Agenda
	1 Minutes of the Previous Meeting
	3 Farnborough Leisure Centre - Leisure Operator Procurement (allow 45 mins)

